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MINISTER FOR HEALTH, MICKELBERG CASE 
Standing Orders Suspension 

MR BARNETT (Cottesloe - Leader of the Opposition) [3.01 pm]:  I move, without notice  - 

That so much of the standing orders be suspended as is necessary to enable the following motion to be 
moved forthwith - 

That this House requires - 

(1) the Minister for Health to give a full and detailed account to this House of his 
evidence given in the 1998 Mickelberg appeal; 

(2) the Minister for Health to give a full and detailed account to this House of his receipt 
of the Lewandowski affidavit, statements of evidence and the transcript of his 1998 
evidence, and his discussions with both the Premier and the Attorney General of 8 
and 9 June this year; and 

(3) the Attorney General to give a full and detailed account to this House of his release of 
the Lewandowski affidavit and other documents, given to him by the Solicitor 
General, to the Minister for Health, and his release of the affidavit to members of the 
media.   

It is important that we suspend standing orders to allow both the Minister for Health and the Attorney General to 
make clear statements.   
Dr Gallop:  They answered questions all last week.  
Mr BARNETT:  They must make clear, interrupted statements to this House.  Since the emergence of the 
Lewandowski affidavit two weeks ago, this issue has been the single dominant topic of public discussion on 
radio and television and in the print media.  It has also been the dominant issue in this Parliament.  A large 
number of questions have been asked of the Attorney General.  He has answered some, but he has failed to 
answer many adequately.  
Mr McGinty:  Like what? 
Mr BARNETT:  I will get to that.  The Opposition has not directed questions to the Minister for Health until 
now.   
We should suspend standing orders because the Lewandowski affidavit calls into question the veracity of the 
evidence given by the now Minister for Health when he was an assistant police commissioner in 1998.  We have 
one description of what happened at the Belmont CIB - that given under oath by this Minister for Health - but a 
contrary description has been provided by Peter Mickelberg and yet another has been provided by Lewandowski.  
As I have said previously in this Chamber, I do not know who is telling the truth, but I do know that not all 
parties are telling the truth.   

We should suspend standing orders because the evidence given at the 1998 Mickelberg appeal directly 
contradicts the evidence given by Peter Mickelberg and Anthony Lewandowski, and it does so in a number of 
respects.  First, then Assistant Commissioner Kucera claimed in 1998 that the 1982 interview looked like a 
normal interview.  That clearly was not the case, because Lewandowski has made it clear that Peter Mickelberg 
was stripped and beaten.  Secondly, then Assistant Commissioner Kucera claimed in 1998 that he entered the 
interview room three times.  Peter Mickelberg has consistently claimed that then Detective Sergeant Kucera 
never entered the room.  Thirdly, then Assistant Commissioner Kucera claimed in 1998 that on three separate 
occasions during the 1982 interview he saw notes being taken and read back to Peter Mickelberg.  Lewandowski 
has now admitted that no notes were taken during the interview.  Fourthly, then Assistant Commissioner Kucera 
claimed in 1998 that Peter Mickelberg never complained to him about having been beaten.  Peter Mickelberg 
states that he did complain to the now Minister for Health.  The evidence given by the Minister for Health has 
been clearly contradicted by Lewandowski and/or Peter Mickelberg.  That is enough reason of itself to require 
the minister to explain and restate to this Parliament his view and memory of those events.  

We should suspend standing orders because the Minister for Health absents himself from cabinet meetings when 
discussions take place about the Royal Commission Into Whether There Has Been Any Corrupt or Criminal 
Conduct by Western Australian Police Officers.  It is appropriate that he do so.  However, can he explain why it 
was necessary that he be provided with a copy of the Lewandowski affidavit?  That is particularly pertinent 
given that he was a key witness in the 1998 appeal case.  Surely he was the only person in this State who should 
not have been given prior knowledge of the affidavit.  That is a critical point.  He now faces public scrutiny - he 
may also face the royal commission - because he is a member of Parliament and a minister.   
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I have a host of questions to ask the Minister for Health.  Can the minister explain whether he requested the 
information that was provided to him by the Attorney General?  Did the Attorney General express any concern 
to the minister when he supplied the information?  The Minister for Health has not answered any questions asked 
of him by the media about this issue.  

Dr Gallop:  That is not true.  

Mr BARNETT:  I am providing the minister with an opportunity to give an account in the people’s Parliament.  I 
suggest that he take advantage of this motion to suspend standing orders, because apparently Mr Lewandowski is 
planning to make further comments tonight.  I imagine his story will come out episode by episode leading up to 
the royal commission’s hearings.  I am giving the minister the opportunity to stand before his peers in the 
Parliament and to say what he remembers of those events.   

Dr Gallop:  His memory!  What a joke you are!  You are propping up your leadership.   

Mr BARNETT:  He has the opportunity.   
Dr Gallop:  We all know that.  
Mr BARNETT:  The Attorney General is referred to in this motion because he has claimed repeatedly that he has 
been open and accountable.  Indeed, he started out that way, waving the affidavit around to the media.  It was 
almost too much information, Jim.  He was waving it around, seeking publicity and presumably trying to provide 
some public justification for a royal commission, the cost of which has increased from $15 million to 
$27 million, and it is still increasing.  The Government thought it had an opportunity to justify the royal 
commission, so the Attorney General ran to the media with the affidavit.  He did not think first and he is now 
trying to back-pedal out of the situation.  The Attorney General might choose to answer some questions and 
place information clearly on the public record.  
Mr McGinty:  What questions have I not answered? 
Mr BARNETT:  I will go through them.  I will give the Attorney General the opportunity to answer them; I will 
restate them.   
Dr Gallop:  He has been answering questions for two weeks.  
Mr BARNETT:  This is not only the Opposition’s view.  The Sunday Times editorial of 23 June states -  

A week has passed since The Sunday Times asked Attorney-General Jim McGinty a list of questions 
about the handling of the confidential new evidence in the Mickelberg case.   
The newspaper has not even received a telephone call in response. 
This from a state government which has declared itself open and accountable in dealing with the 
sensitive issue.  

Mr McGinty:  You are desperate when you have to rely on The Sunday Times!   
Mr BARNETT:  The Government has been boasting about being open and accountable.  That is the editorial 
from The Sunday Times!  Issues have arisen as a result of the way in which the Attorney General has chosen to 
handle the Lewandowski affidavit.  If the House agrees to suspend standing orders, the Attorney General will 
have the opportunity to answer some questions.  Why would members not agree to suspend standing orders?   

The SPEAKER:  The Leader of the Opposition has been speaking for eight minutes.  I draw his attention to the 
fact that he should be talking to the reasons for suspending standing orders, not about the content of the motion 
he wishes to debate, if the suspension is approved.  I understand that there will be some deviation from the 
matter, but I ask the Leader of the Opposition to confine his comments as much as possible to the suspension. 

Mr BARNETT:  The Attorney General should support the suspension of standing orders so that he can answer 
the following questions - I do not debate them; I just pose them - for example, when did the Attorney General 
first become aware of the Minister for Health’s involvement in the 1998 appeal?  That is a legitimate question. 

Mr McGinty:  I have answered that. 

Mr BARNETT:  Okay, the Attorney General can answer it again. 

I hope the Attorney General will support the suspension of standing orders, because then he can get up and make 
his speech.  Another question is: on what basis did the Attorney General provide the Minister for Health with a 
copy of the confidential affidavit if, according to the Attorney General, the minister was not directly or indirectly 
mentioned in the affidavit? 

Mr McGinty:  Hon Peter Foss has already asked that question.  



Extract from Hansard 
[ASSEMBLY - Tuesday, 25 June 2002] 

 p11918d-11932a 
Mr Colin Barnett; Speaker; Mr John Kobelke; Mr Jim McGinty; Mr Bernie Masters; Deputy Speaker; Mr Max 

Trenorden; Mr Rob Johnson; Ms Sue Walker; Mr Matt Birney 

 [3] 

Mr BARNETT:  Why did the Attorney General contact the Minister for Health at all, given he was absent from 
Cabinet when these issues were discussed?  Why, at the same time, did the Solicitor General provide the 
Attorney General with the now Minister for Health’s evidence from the 1998 appeal?  That is extraordinary.  The 
Solicitor General gave the affidavit to the Attorney General, but why did he also provide the evidence?  Why did 
the Attorney General then feel inclined to pass the information directly onto the Minister for Health if he was not 
directly referred to in the affidavit? 

Point of Order 

Mr KOBELKE:  Obviously, there are matters that you, Mr Speaker, must weigh up as to what is relevant to the 
suspension of standing orders.  However, I ask you to consider that matters can be raised in private members’ 
time by way of a motion.  In a debate on the suspension of standing orders, one key element is that there is some 
degree of urgency.  It appears that the Leader of the Opposition, in diverting to the substance of the debate, is 
undermining his case.  He continually indicates that he wants to bring on debate and asks a range of questions 
that have already been asked and fully answered in this place or the other place.  I ask you, Mr Speaker, to 
consider also that the Leader of the Opposition is simply regurgitating a range of matters that have been taken up 
already in both Houses of Parliament and is not stating why we should urgently suspend standing orders.  

The SPEAKER:  Talking to a motion to suspend standing orders on controversial matters always poses the same 
question.  It is a difficult task to stick to the reason for the urgency to suspend standing orders.  However, I 
concur with what the Leader of the House said in that the debate should be restricted to the reasons for the 
suspension and why there is urgency.  

Debate Resumed 

Mr BARNETT:  I do not have many more comments to make and I am putting the case for why we should 
suspend standing orders.  I will continue to list a few more rhetorical questions on which the Attorney General 
might choose to make clear statements.  For example, did the Attorney General ask the Solicitor General for the 
now Minister for Health’s evidence or was it offered?  That is an important point.  Why did the Attorney General 
consult with the Director of Public Prosecutions, the counsel assisting the Royal Commission Into Whether 
There Has Been Any Corrupt or Criminal Conduct by Western Australian Police Officers and the Solicitor 
General before making the affidavit public, when he did not consult with them over whether he should make the 
affidavit available to the Minister for Health?  Why was the Commissioner for Police not notified that the 
affidavit was released to the Minister for Health and, in part, to the media?  Why did the Attorney General 
potentially compromise the integrity of the royal commission by handing evidence to a possible key witness?  
That is an extraordinary situation. 

Mr McGinty:  Rubbish!  What is extraordinary is that proposition from you.  

Mr BARNETT:  The Attorney General should then agree to the suspension of standing orders and respond.   

I have been speaking for 11 minutes.  I remind the Speaker that, to the best of my recollection, since the 
February 2001 election, the Opposition has not moved to suspend standing orders.  If we have done so, it has 
probably happened only once.  However, I raise that point because we do not move to suspend standing orders 
lightly.  Indeed, we have not moved motions to suspend standing orders to condemn ministers.  We have been at 
pains in this debate not to accuse the Minister for Health of anything and we have asked questions of the 
Attorney General.  However, we are faced with a public issue and an issue of importance because of the time it 
has occupied in Parliament and the degree of coverage it has received in the print, television and radio media.  It 
is important to deal with this issue today because this House will adjourn at the end of the week, and that is why, 
after two weeks, we have now moved the motion.  We could have demanded this be done in the first week that 
the issue was raised.  However, we provided opportunities, asked questions and held back to provide the 
courtesy to the Minister for Health to enable him to make an explanation or private statement in this House.  We 
afforded him that courtesy for two weeks and for two weeks he chose not to make a statement.  Now we are 
moving to suspend standing orders.   

The fundamental issues are quite simple: former Detective Sergeant Kucera happened to be the officer-in-charge 
of the Belmont CIB when, according to some evidence, a witness was stripped naked and bashed.  This former 
police officer claimed to have entered the room three times.  Peter Mickelberg - the witness - said he did not 
enter the room.  I have not seen Lewandowski’s affidavit and I do not know what he will say in evidence.  Then, 
in 1998, there was an appeal by Peter Mickelberg and others when it appeared as if the case was not going very 
well for the Police Service.  Suddenly, having not been called in during trials and in between appeals, Assistant 
Commissioner Kucera appeared under oath, in uniform, and gave detailed evidence of going into that room on 
three occasions.  He then described in detail people taking notes and reading back statements to Mickelberg - a 
piece of evidence described by the judges of the Supreme Court on appeal as critical to their decision to disallow 
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the appeal by Mickelberg.  The point I make is that the role of Detective Sergeant and later Assistant 
Commissioner Kucera was important.  He happened to be in Belmont at the time and he happened to be drawn in 
and called 17 years later as a key witness, which the judges regarded as critical in arriving at their decision.  By 
1998 he was not a peripheral player.   

This is an issue for the Opposition today, because that same person now happens to be a representative of the 
people in this Chamber as well as a cabinet minister.  That makes it a public issue and an issue for Parliament.  
He has provided evidence and others have provided contradictory evidence.  As I said from day one, I do not 
pass judgment and I am not in a position to do so.  However, we clearly have contradictory statements.  
Testimony under oath of the now Minister for Health has been brought into question.  Surely, as a member of 
Parliament, he should make a statement to this House.  He has failed to do so for the past two weeks, for 
whatever reason.  Today, the Opposition has moved to suspend standing orders to give him that opportunity.  He 
will be given an opportunity, in silence, to make a statement if he so chooses.  I suggest that he do so.  If he 
wishes to back up his evidence, provide new evidence or an explanation, or say that he cannot remember, this 
Parliament should give him the opportunity to do so.  In my judgment, he should take that opportunity, but that 
is his call.  The Attorney General - the chief law officer of this State - has a responsibility that goes beyond that 
of any other cabinet member.  He has the responsibility of heading up law enforcement and, effectively, the 
judiciary.  The Attorney General was provided with a copy of an affidavit - quite appropriately it went from the 
Director of Public Prosecutions to the Solicitor General and then to the Attorney General - which he described as 
being sensational, or words to that effect.  As the Attorney General, he ran to the media, waved it around and 
talked about this dramatic bombshell - 

Mr McGinty:  I did not.  

Mr BARNETT:  That was the effect and he knows it.  He went out and provided pieces of it - extracts and 
comments - to the media.  The sequence of events that involved the Minister for Health, the Premier, the 
Solicitor General and the royal commission must be explained, as the Attorney General recalls it.  He should also 
clearly place his involvement on the public record.  This is his opportunity to get up and make a statement about 
his total involvement.  The Attorney General probably realises now - as any Attorney General would have - that 
he should have passed that affidavit to the royal commission.  If the royal commission investigators thought that 
affidavit was important, surely they would have wanted to ask questions.  They may have wanted to question 
Mickelberg again; obviously they would want to question Lewandowski; and they may have wanted to speak to 
the Mr Kucera who is now Minister for Health.  What has happened?  In a sense, it was a public tip-off.  Prior to 
the affidavit being given to Cabinet, it was given to the Minister for Health, even though he was, in the words of 
the judges, a key witness.  I do not know whether the minister was telling the truth in 1998, but I do know that, 
in the words of the judges, he was a key witness.  If anyone was not to be given that affidavit, it was the now 
Minister for Health, yet the Attorney General did that.  The Attorney General may well have compromised both 
the investigation and the evidence presented to the royal commission on matters relating to the Mickelberg case. 

The Attorney General should also avail himself of this opportunity to place on the public and parliamentary 
record every step of the way in which he handled that affidavit.  This issue will no doubt continue in the royal 
commission, through media and public comment, and it will continue in parliamentary questions and the like, but 
the royal commission has the responsibility to deal with it.  The royal commission is about to start its hearings. 

The Attorney General has put himself between evidence and the royal commission.  He stopped being the almost 
agnostic, distant, above-the-system Attorney General and, for whatever reason, he became a player.  The now 
Minister for Health was at Belmont and was a key witness.  We have moved to suspend standing orders simply 
to provide an opportunity for this Parliament to listen in silence to statements by both the Minister for Health and 
the Attorney General about their involvement.  The Minister for Health can say he either stands by or perhaps 
has reconsidered the evidence he gave in 1998 - it is his choice; I do not know whether he is telling the truth - 
and then describe to the Parliament and the public his involvement with the affidavit.  The Attorney General 
should describe in a sequential manner the events leading from his receipt of the affidavit to its release, his 
public release of parts of it and the way he has handled it.  The Attorney General should defend his conduct.  The 
Minister for Health should explain his role, because, whether or not he likes it, he is now a public figure with the 
responsibility of a cabinet minister.  He may well sit on the other side of the Chamber and smirk, but he is on 
account.  I do not know who is telling the truth, but not everyone is.  I can see no honour going to any party; the 
way this issue has evolved, it is almost impossible to find an honourable person attached to it.  This is potentially 
the most serious issue a member of Parliament has faced in this Chamber since the 1980s, and it should not be 
treated in a frivolous way. 

The SPEAKER:  The Leader of the Opposition has outlined his argument in support of the motion.  I call on 
members to endeavour to speak to the motion before the House concerning the suspension of standing orders.  I 
fail to see what other arguments could be used in defence of the motion. 
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MR McGINTY (Fremantle - Attorney General) [3.23 pm]:  This motion calls for a suspension of standing 
orders to achieve three things: firstly, that the House requires the Minister for Health to give a full and detailed 
account of his evidence in the 1998 Mickelberg appeal case.  That is a nonsense, and I will tell members why.  
The Minister for Health, or Assistant Commissioner Kucera as he was in 1998, gave evidence on oath to the 
Court of Criminal Appeal, and he has said publicly since this matter arose that that is his evidence on oath and he 
stands by it - end of story.  He has given evidence on oath, which is a bit different from people who come into 
this place and say all sorts of reckless things. 

Mr Barnett:  He said it on oath. 

Mr McGINTY:  What more could the Leader of the Opposition want?  That is why I say that this is a nonsense.  
I gave members of the Opposition last week, at their request, a copy of the evidence that was given to the Court 
of Criminal Appeal in 1998 by then Assistant Commissioner Kucera.  He has said that he stands by that 
evidence; to the extent that he had knowledge of the matter, because of his peripheral involvement, that is his 
account of what occurred on that day.  Only one group in the community is questioning that - members opposite. 
Mr Barnett:  Read the editorials. 
Mr McGINTY:  Of The Sunday Times.  Please!  The Leader of the Opposition should stop having a lend of us.  
The third point in the motion calls upon the Attorney General to give a full and detailed account of his release of 
the Lewandowski affidavit - I am prepared to take that loosely as meaning the release of the contents of the 
affidavit, or the major elements of it - and other documents given to him by the Solicitor General to the Minister 
for Health.  The motion then refers to his release of the affidavit to members of the media.  The simple answer is 
that I have not given any member of the media a copy of that affidavit.  I know some people have been 
whispering and suggesting that, but I have not given a copy of that affidavit - neither has anyone on my staff - to 
any member of the media.  The motion is misconceived because it makes a false allegation. 
Mr Barnett:  You have an opportunity to explain in full. 
Mr McGINTY:  I have explained it ad nauseam over the past three weeks.  Considering the track record of the 
Leader of the Opposition, who made a false and scandalous allegation against the Minister for Health, it is a bit 
rich for him to come into this place and talk about integrity. 
Mr Barnett:  I will debate that if you want to.  Why don’t you suspend standing orders? 
Mr McGINTY:  The Leader of the Opposition said to the public, without the benefit of having read the transcript 
of that case, words to the effect that the Minister for Health was present at an interview when Peter Mickelberg 
was beaten. 
Mr Barnett:  Not at the time he was beaten.  I have never claimed that. 
Mr McGINTY:  The Leader of the Opposition did say that, and that is the problem. 

Mr Barnett:  The extract from that interview, as it was played on Channels 2 and 10, was ambiguous.  I said to 
one of the reporters from the ABC that the grab he took was ambiguous.  When I did that interview on the steps 
outside Parliament House, 10 journalists were present, and not one other journalist interpreted my comment to 
imply that the Minister for Health, then Detective Sergeant Kucera, was in the room when Mickelberg was 
beaten.  I never implied that in any sense.  Had I in any way suggested that, surely one of those journalists would 
have asked the question.  Everyone understood.  I made clear last week in Parliament that I had never suggested 
that the now Minister for Health was actually in the room when Mickelberg was beaten.  If that ambiguity is all 
the Attorney General has to go on, it ain’t going to wash. 
Mr McGINTY:  Any reasonable person listening to that grab on Channels 10 or 2 would have come to the 
conclusion that Detective Sergeant Kucera, as he was at the time, had far more than a peripheral involvement.  
The suggestion was there at least - I think it is something more than that - that he was present while the beating 
took place.  That is the only reasonable way to read it. 
Mr Barnett:  No.  He was the only person present at an interview - I used the word “when” which created an 
ambiguity - but I did not imply that Minister Kucera was there. 
Dr Gallop:  Well, apologise! 
Mr Barnett:  No.  Not one journalist in 10 - 
Mr Kobelke:  No wonder you’re not going to be Leader of the Opposition much longer.  It is an absolute 
disgrace that you try to weasel out of that and not give an apology. 

Mr Barnett:  Not one journalist present took my comment as implying that the now Minister for Health was 
present when the beating took place. 

Mr McGINTY:  I took it that way. 
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Mr Barnett:  That is why I contacted the ABC after I saw it.  That comment by itself gave an ambiguous 
impression.   

Mr Kobelke:  Why did you not apologise to the Minister for Health? 

Mr Barnett:  Because I did not impugn him in any way. 

Mr Kobelke:  The Leader of the Opposition does not have the gumption. 

Dr Gallop interjected. 

Mr Barnett:  Are we bringing family members into it, Geoff? 

Dr Gallop:  The Leader of the Opposition should have apologised to the Minister for Health and his family on 
the matter.  The Leader of the Opposition publicly defamed him and, as the Minister for Consumer and 
Employment Protection said, you do not have the gumption to apologise.  

Mr Barnett:  The reality is that we do not think that he was there at all; that is the possibility.  

Dr Gallop:  You know what happened, do you?  The Leader of the Opposition knows what happened!  What 
arrogance!  You are an absolute disgrace.  

The SPEAKER:  This debate is not going very far.  Members have spent the past three minutes interjecting 
across the Chamber.  I ask the Attorney General to continue.  

Mr McGINTY:  The point I was making is that on three occasions the Leader of the Opposition has, in my view, 
conducted himself in a way that raises questions about the integrity of what he has said.  We have debated this 
matter backwards and forwards.  Firstly, when it was suggested on the Channel 10 and Channel 2 interviews that 
Detective Sergeant Kucera was present - we have debated that matter and I understand the Leader of the 
Opposition’s point of view - a question was raised.  Secondly - I have covered this point - a false allegation is 
contained in the motion before the House in which it is asserted that I released the affidavit to members of the 
Press.  As I have said, not one member of the Press will be able to say that the Attorney General or anyone else 
in his office has given them a copy of the affidavit.  Neither I, nor to the best of my knowledge anyone 
connected with me, gave a copy of the affidavit to someone from The West Australian.   

Mr Johnson:  Who else had it?  

Mr McGINTY:  The Mickelbergs, the police, the Director of Public Prosecutions and the Solicitor General had 
it.  

Mr Johnson:  I do not think it was them.  

Mr McGINTY:  The member for Hillarys asked me who had it and I am just telling him.  The Minister for 
Health also had it. 

Mr Pendal:  You exploited it.  You came in here very strongly to exploit it.  Do you deny that?  

Mr McGINTY:  Exploit?  

Dr Gallop:  Go and take a cold shower.   

Mr Pendal:  He was on television that night exploiting it for all it was worth.  

Mr McGINTY:  The member for South Perth surprises and disappoints me.  If I had sat on that affidavit and not 
made its general contents public, the member for South Perth would have demanded openness and accountability 
from the Government, because that is his consistent theme. 

Mr Pendal:  You cannot deny that you made it public; you just said that.  

Mr McGINTY:  I made the essential elements of its contents public.  However, it has been suggested that I 
handed over a hard copy of the affidavit to members of the Press, which is false.  

Mr Pendal:  No-one has said that.  

Mr McGINTY:  Yes, they have.   

Mr Birney:  You are playing semantics. 

Mr McGINTY:  I am not playing semantics; it is a very important distinction.  Last week when the 
Commissioner of Police suggested that we should have kept this matter secret, I fundamentally disagreed with 
him.  In these circumstances, there was such an enormous public interest in this matter that we did what should 
have been done.  
Mr Pendal:  That is why I am saying that you were the first to exploit it.  
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Mr McGINTY:  Not to exploit it.  To take the public into the Government’s confidence is not to exploit it.  

Mr Pendal:  It was manna from heaven for you.  

Mr McGINTY:  It was not.  When I was made aware of this matter the gravity of it struck me enormously, as it 
would have done to anyone in my position.  Mr Lewandowski’s confession is something that happens to the law 
and justice administration in this State only once in a lifetime.  Something of that magnitude does not happen 
every decade.  The member’s suggestion that I exploited the situation with any sense of glee is wrong.  I had 
enormous worries and concern about this matter because of its magnitude.  I assure the member that no cheap 
political exploitation was involved.  

Mr Pendal:  The Attorney General’s body language was unmistakable.  

Mr McGINTY:  I do not think that the member is right.  That is the background of this debate today.   

I will now address the issue of the suspension of standing orders.  This motion should have been moved two 
weeks ago, after the Press had been made aware of the Lewandowski matter on the previous Monday.  However, 
on the Thursday of that week, the greatest priority of the opposition parties was country health boards, which 
was reflected in the matter of public interest motion they moved.  Despite the importance of country health 
boards, I suggest that members opposite got it wrong.  This motion should have been moved as a matter of 
public interest in the days immediately following the public disclosure of Mr Lewandowski’s confession.  The 
Opposition is now playing catch-up politics.  The Opposition’s problem is that it is being driven by the criticism 
in The Sunday Times about the way the Liberal Party has strategically approached this issue.  

Ms Sue Walker:  The editorial was good.   

Mr McGINTY:  The article suggested that the Liberal Party had frozen out the shadow Attorney General, who 
has pursued his own line on these matters, and that it had frozen out the member for Kalgoorlie, who is the 
Opposition’s police spokesperson.  The other member who has seemingly played no role in this matter is the 
member for Kingsley who, I suggest, has more of a profound and personal knowledge of this matter than any 
other member in this place.  

Ms Sue Walker:  Except the Minister for Health.  

Mr Johnson:  And you.  

Mr McGINTY:  My general knowledge on this matter has been gained broadly from what I have read in the 
newspapers until two and a half weeks ago.   

Mrs Roberts:  The member for Kingsley has written letters of endorsement for the Mickelbergs.  

Mr McGINTY:  Indeed; she has a profound knowledge of this matter.   

Mr Pendal:  What does that have to do with the suspension of standing orders?  

Mr McGINTY:  The motion before the House is in response to stinging criticism in The Sunday Times about the 
Liberal Party’s strategy on this matter and how it has mishandled it.  It has addressed the issue too late, asked the 
wrong questions and had the wrong targets because of its internal divisions.  The Liberal Party has not used the 
member for Kalgoorlie and his knowledge of the matter as the spokesperson on police matters.  The member for 
Kingsley, who has a profound personal knowledge of the matter, and the shadow Attorney General, Hon Peter 
Foss, who purports to have a great knowledge on everything, including this matter, have been frozen out.  The 
motivation behind this motion has everything to do with internal divisions within the Liberal Party and nothing 
to do with the full revelation of these matters.   

By way of introduction to the debate on this matter, the Leader of the Opposition said - I wrote it down at the 
time because it is profoundly untrue - that I had failed to answer questions that had been put to me about my 
knowledge of this matter.  That is simply not true.  

Mr Barnett:  You have answered questions, but you started avoiding answers towards the end of last week.  

Mr McGINTY:  Because of the gravity of the matter, in the first week I more than answered the questions asked 
of me, particularly those asked by the member for Nedlands.  I gave all the background information about whom 
I had spoken to, what was said and the circumstances.  The Leader of the Opposition cannot suggest in any way, 
shape or form that I have avoided any factual matters that have been put to me about to whom I have spoken. 

Mr Birney:  That is absolute rubbish. 

Mr McGINTY:  Can the member give me an example? 

Mr Birney:  I will give you one when I speak shortly.   
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Mr McGINTY:  Will the member not give me an example now so that I can respond? 

Mr Birney:  I do not want you to cut me off when I am halfway through it.  

Mr McGINTY:  I will not do that. 

Mr Birney:  I will give the Attorney General an example very shortly. 

Ms Sue Walker:  I will give you an example.  What about John McNamara’s question to you on ABC radio on 
12 June when he asked you whether any other police officers were involved, and you said, “No.”  At that time, 
you had already given the affidavit to the Minister for Health.  

Mr McGINTY:  What was the question?  

Ms Sue Walker:  I just told you.  John McNamara asked you a question on 12 June.  He asked whether there 
were any other police officers involved in relation to the Mickelberg’s startling revelations.  

Mr McGINTY:  I do not follow the member’s point.  I will refer to the motion to suspend standing orders.  We 
received no notice of this motion for the suspension of standing orders.  That is fine, but if the Opposition were 
serious about this matter, generally speaking, the matter could have been worked out by agreement if we agreed 
there was some merit in raising the issue.  We received no notice whatsoever before the Leader of the Opposition 
moved for the suspension of standing orders.  I have been in this place for a few years - not as long as some other 
members - and I know there is no requirement for notice to be given, but if the Opposition were serious about 
wanting to debate a real issue - 

Mr Birney:  We simply want you to give a full and open account. 

Mr McGINTY:  I have done it many times.  I do not know what more I can add.  I have given as honestly as I am 
able my full account of to whom I had spoken, even down to the detail of where I was when I received the phone 
call in the Manjimup area. 

Mr Omodei:  You didn’t go to the sky jetty site at all. 

Mr McGINTY:  Yes I did.  I can reassure the member that I was there.  Don Punch, who is the Chief Executive 
Officer of the South West Development Commission, was driving a car down a very steep dirt road through the 
forest at the sky jetty site when he managed to get an enormous branch wedged in the transmission of the 
vehicle.  It was a wet, muddy day, so Don Punch had to take his tie and coat off, crawl underneath the car on the 
very steep, muddy road and try to get rid of the branch.  If members wish to ask the CEO of the South West 
Development Commission whether we went to the sky jetty site, he will tell them how he got covered in mud in 
an attempt to make the car mobile again as we approached the Donnelly River.   

Several members interjected. 

Mr McGINTY:  I am answering the question.  The member for Warren-Blackwood accused me of telling a lie.  I 
am clearing the matter up, because it is important that it be clarified and that members know the truth of the 
matter.  If members wish to suggest that I am doing other than telling the truth, they had better get their facts 
straight.  That is what we did on that day.  

Withdrawal of Remark 

Mr MASTERS:  If my hearing was correct, I heard the Attorney General say that the member for Warren-
Blackwood accused him of telling a lie.   

Mr McGinty:  I did, and the member for Warren-Blackwood did exactly that. 

Mr MASTERS:  He did not.  The words I heard from the member for Warren-Blackwood were that the Attorney 
General was not telling the truth.   

Mr McGinty:  I think I have just hit that one over the long-on boundary for six. 

Mr Pendal:  The Chair made the distinction last week. 

The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  Order!   

Mr MASTERS:  What the Attorney General has said is unparliamentary, and I request that he withdraw it. 

Mr KOBELKE:  There is no point of order.  Something was said by way of interjection.  The Attorney General 
in responding refuted the statement and said that to say it would be a lie against him.  He did not accuse it of 
being a lie. 

Mr Johnson:  He didn’t say that at all.  You know what he said.  He said that the member for Warren-Blackwood 
was telling a lie, and that is not true. 
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The DEPUTY SPEAKER:  Order!  There is no point of order. 

Debate Resumed 

Mr McGINTY:  This matter should have been raised by way of a matter of public importance motion or during 
private members’ business two weeks ago. 

Mr Johnson:  Why? 

Mr McGINTY:  The issue was there before we did everything that the Opposition asked us to do in this motion.   

Mr Johnson:  We were hoping to get some more of the truth. 

Mr McGINTY:  It has been fully provided.  During the past two weeks, we have provided answers to questions 
and given detailed explanations, to the extent that to the best of my knowledge I can add nothing useful to what 
has been said on the public record and, in particular in this House, about my knowledge of this entire matter, 
because we have been so open. 

Mr Birney:  Except for the Minister for Health; we have not heard from him. 

Mr McGINTY:  The Minister for Health’s evidence is on the public record.  He has given sworn evidence before 
a court, and he stands by that.  He can add nothing to that.   

Mr Johnson:  We know that you are protecting him, but we want to hear from him. 

Mr McGINTY:  It is an honour to stand in this House and defend the Minister for Health.  Not many members 
opposite can say that about their colleagues.  The Opposition cannot ask questions of the Minister for Health, 
because the issue does not relate to his ministerial portfolio.  Accordingly, questions have come to me or the 
Premier.  I am sure the Premier would echo the view that to defend someone of the calibre of the Minister for 
Health is a rare honour indeed.   

Nothing new has been raised during the course of this debate; it is old hat.  Criticism has been raised within the 
Liberal Party about its handling of this matter.  It can now add this motion to that criticism, because the matter is 
weeks old and past its use-by date.  No purpose will be achieved by suspending standing orders, because the 
Opposition has been unable to identify a question that it wants answered, particularly by me.  It wants to make 
the allegations but it does not want to advance the matter any further.  If it were serious about this matter, the 
Opposition could have brought forward a matter of public interest motion.  The Government would even have 
accepted a late notice of motion for tomorrow night, if that is what the Opposition wanted to debate, but this is a 
political stunt in an attempt to make up for lost time, the fact that the Opposition has missed the bus and the fact 
that people in the Liberal Party are highly critical of the Opposition’s handling of this matter.  For those reasons, 
the Government will oppose the motion to suspend standing orders. 

MR TRENORDEN (Avon - Leader of the National Party) [3.46 pm]:  I will not speak for very long.  I do not 
believe that much of what the Attorney General has said has any relevance to this debate.  The Attorney General 
said that the motion to suspend standing orders is not the right process for debating this issue.  I agree.  The 
correct process is that the Minister for Health should have requested the opportunity to speak before today.  The 
Attorney General talked about private members’ business, other motions and a number of totally irrelevant 
issues.  The one thing the Attorney General said correctly was that this is an issue of enormous public interest.  
The issue is centred on the Minister for Health, the member for Yokine.  The Westminster system has centuries 
of tradition which dictates that when a question is asked, it is answered.  The Opposition and the media have 
asked the question on many occasions.  My constituents have also asked me the question.  The question is clearly 
in the public domain. 

Dr Gallop:  What is the question? 

Mr TRENORDEN:  The question is, what role did the Minister for Health play in this? 

Dr Gallop:  He answered that question under oath.   

Mr TRENORDEN:  I have not missed many hours in this House during the past few months.  I do not remember 
hearing the Minister for Health describe his position, and the Minister for Health is in a difficult position whether 
he likes it or not.  He has a responsibility to answer to the public of Western Australia, because he was elected by 
the public.  His responsibility is not to hide behind the numbers of the Australian Labor Party or to some degree 
to respond to the Opposition; he has a clear responsibility to answer to the public.  He should have acted on that 
responsibility before today.  It should be a matter of pride for the member for Yokine to do just that.  In the end, 
all the numbers of the ALP will not protect him and all the pressure of the Opposition will not sink him.  If he 
sinks, it will be because the public will force it to happen.  I remind the member for Yokine that many a member 
has sunk throughout the time of Westminster system because of the way in which that member acted.  The 
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question is for the member for Yokine and not for the ALP.  History shows that this is how the Burke issue 
started.  Just a few moments ago, the Attorney General said that the only people asking questions were members 
of the Opposition.  I was here in 1986 and can confirm that that is correct.  Back in the Burke days, only the 
Opposition was asking those questions.  That is how these types of matters start.  When Minister Shave was 
under pressure, only the Opposition at the time was asking questions.  I point out to the member for Yokine that 
this is not a sprint.  This will not finish this week or next week.  This will take two years or maybe longer.  It is 
important that the correct procedures be put in place.  I appeal to the member for Yokine to think of himself and 
his family and to start taking a few actions. 

Mr Kucera:  Don’t bring my family into this! 

Mr TRENORDEN:  All members have to bring their families into this.  The family of the member for Yokine 
deserves as much protection as anyone’s family.  Unfortunately, that is what happens to all of us in this place. 

Dr Gallop:  Can I ask you a question?   

Mr TRENORDEN:  Yes, of course. 

Dr Gallop:  Do you think the Leader of the Opposition should apologise for the comment he made on television?   

Mr TRENORDEN:  That is one of the greatest red herrings I have heard for some time. 

Dr Gallop:  They are your standards! 

Mr TRENORDEN:  The issue is that a number of people are asking questions of a member of Parliament.  I 
know of nobody at this stage who has said that anything wrong has been done.  However, the reason the member 
for Yokine should take this opportunity now is that, presumably, at five o’clock on Thursday this House will get 
up for the winter recess.  It is important for his sake that he do something before then.  I can tell members what 
will happen if he does not.  In the seven weeks when this House will not meet, the wave will build and build.  
Obviously it will not happen here, because we will not be here.  It will happen among the public and in the Press.  
It will come crashing around the head of the member for Yokine at some time.  All the people defending the 
member now may not be around at that time.  The history of this place shows that no matter which side a 
member sits on, in the end that member is alone.  I appeal to the member for Yokine to take this opportunity, 
because he has more than enough credibility and capability to defend himself.  He will go wrong if he does not 
take this opportunity.  The issue is not about him giving the members of the Opposition a response; it is about 
him giving the public of Western Australia a response.  

MR JOHNSON (Hillarys) [3.52 pm]:  I will speak to the motion that standing orders be suspended to allow 
debate on a fairly simple but serious motion.  It is all very well for the Premier, the Attorney General and the 
Leader of the House to say that we should use a matter of public interest motion or private members’ time to 
raise this issue.  That is not for government ministers to say.  It is for the Opposition to decide when it wants to 
utilise the facility in standing orders that allows us to suspend standing orders.  That is our prerogative, not 
theirs.  We accommodate the Government when it wants to suspend standing orders.  Many times when it has 
wanted to do things that need an absolute majority and has wanted to suspend standing orders, we have obliged it 
and ensured that there were enough members in the Chamber to suspend standing orders.  The Opposition has 
hardly ever moved a motion to suspend standing orders in the past 18 months.  I think we have done it once or 
twice.  The Leader of the Opposition says that he thinks we have never done it, but I think we may have done it 
once or twice.  However, we have done it very rarely.  When government members were in opposition, and when 
you, Mr Speaker, sat on this side of the House, it was a regular occurrence.  It did not happen every week, but 
sometimes it was every other week.  The facility was abused enormously when I sat on that side of the House.   

Because we think this is a very serious issue, we ask that standing orders be suspended.  This matter concerns the 
Minister for Health.  It gives me no pleasure to see him in an uncomfortable position.  However, he is a minister 
and he has to accept his responsibilities as a minister of the Crown in this Government and in this Parliament.  
We want to hear from the Minister for Health.  We cannot ask him questions about the Mickelberg affair and the 
evidence that was given in 1983 and 1998 and on another occasion.  The media have asked him those questions 
and they got one simple answer: “I stand by the evidence I gave.”  There has been no other detail.  I hardly think 
that is adequate and sufficient for the people of Western Australia to form their judgments.  I am not saying that 
the Minister for Health did not tell the truth when he gave evidence.  I do not know that.  That is for the royal 
commission to determine.   

Mr McGinty:  Of course he has.   

Mr JOHNSON:  Of course the Attorney General will stand by him loyally.  He is a very good friend of the 
Minister for Health, and I do not blame him for that.  In fact, I would be disappointed if he did not. 

Dr Gallop:  What are you saying then? 



Extract from Hansard 
[ASSEMBLY - Tuesday, 25 June 2002] 

 p11918d-11932a 
Mr Colin Barnett; Speaker; Mr John Kobelke; Mr Jim McGinty; Mr Bernie Masters; Deputy Speaker; Mr Max 

Trenorden; Mr Rob Johnson; Ms Sue Walker; Mr Matt Birney 

 [11] 

Mr JOHNSON:  The Premier is not listening. 

Dr Gallop:  I am listening.  What are you saying? 

Mr JOHNSON:  I am saying that now there are conflicting reports of what happened on the day, such as that 
Detective Sergeant Kucera, as the Minister for Health was then, said that he went into the interview room three 
times.  There was some question about whether it was two or three times.  I do not know what the truth is.  Now 
Mickelberg - 

Dr Gallop:  The Leader of the Opposition claims to know what the truth is, because he just came in here and said 
that the minister never went in there.  That is how smart he is.  The Leader of the Opposition is better than all of 
us!   

Mr JOHNSON:  No; he did not say that at all.  The Premier should not mislead the House. 

Dr Gallop:  What did he say?  He certainly did say it.   

Mr Carpenter interjected. 

Withdrawal of Remarks 

Mr BARNETT:  The Minister for Education has just said that last week I said that the now Minister for Health 
was present when Mickelberg was bashed.  I have never said that.  I have never implied that.  I ask that the 
minister withdraw that comment because it is absolutely disgraceful.  He should be required to withdraw it 
immediately.  

Mr KOBELKE:  It is not a matter of ascertaining the fact of the issue.  There is simply no point of order.  If it 
comes to ascertaining the facts, the transcript of the interview on the 5.00 pm news on Channel 10 records 
Barnett as saying -  

A member of Cabinet, by clear fact, was present during the interview when a prisoner was bashed.   

The quote goes on.  The Leader of the Opposition is being totally duplicitous, as we know he normally always is.  
There is no point of order. 

Mr Carpenter:  How do you like having it thrown back in your face?  Get up and withdraw the point of order, 
you weakling!   

Mr Barnett:  I do not come into this Chamber and tell lies.   

Mr Carpenter interjected. 

Mr Barnett:  I do not bring people’s family and children into public debate like you do. 

The SPEAKER:  Members! 

Several members interjected. 

The SPEAKER:  When I resume my seat, the Leader of the Opposition will withdraw his comment about the 
minister lying.  It is not for me to adjudicate on the veracity of what anyone in this place says.  We obey the 
standing orders in relation to what is parliamentary and what is unparliamentary.  We never go into whether it is 
true.  I call upon the Leader of the Opposition to withdraw.  

Mr BARNETT:  What I said was that I do not come into this Chamber and tell lies.  

The SPEAKER:  That is not what I heard.  

Mr BARNETT:  That is what I said. 

Dr Gallop:  Withdraw!   

Mr BARNETT:  That is not what I said.  I did not say it.  

The SPEAKER:  My hearing tells me that the Leader of the Opposition implied that the Minister for Education 
had lied.  If I am incorrect, I apologise for that.  However, I will check Hansard.  

Debate Resumed 

Mr JOHNSON:  I commend you, Mr Speaker, for that decision.  Before that interjection and the response it 
provoked, I was saying that questions are being asked in the public arena in light of the evidence provided by the 
Minister for Health about events in 1982.  I understand from newspaper reports that the minister said that he 
went into the interview room three times.  One of those occasions was to deliver hamburgers.  However, we have 
not heard the minister say anything about that in this House.  We would like to hear those statements verified in 
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this place and whether the minister stands by them.  To ease people’s minds we would like the minister to clarify 
Mickelberg’s consistent claim that no notes were taken during that interview.  Mickelberg said that he was 
beaten up and that the only time he saw Detective Sergeant Kucera was after the interview when he complained 
of being beaten up.  Mickelberg attributed to Detective Sergeant Kucera words to the effect, “I can’t help you.”  
Mickelberg has consistently claimed that no notes of his evidence were taken during the interview; yet, until 
recently when he made a confession, Lewandowski has always said that those statements were taken.  I 
understand, however, that Lewandowski has claimed in his affidavit that no notes were taken at that time; they 
were concocted about a week or a month later with police officer Don Hancock.  Two people - Mickelberg and 
Lewandowski - have claimed that no notes were taken, but another person has claimed that he saw notes being 
taken and that he saw someone reading back a statement to Peter Mickelberg.  The Opposition is offering a 
fantastic opportunity for the Minister for Health to stand and provide the correct version of events at that time. 

The SPEAKER:  We are reaching a stage after approximately six minutes at which the member’s comments 
relating to the motion to suspend standing orders are drifting away somewhat and he is once again debating the 
issues that can be debated should standing orders be suspended.  As he knows, under standing orders that is not 
allowed.  I ask that he confine his speech to the suspension. 

Mr JOHNSON:  The Opposition has sought to suspend standing orders because this issue is somewhat urgent.  It 
has been flagged that Lewandowski will give a press conference tonight and, I understand, will mention 
Assistant Commissioner Kucera, the minister’s rank at the time of the appeal.  We do not know what 
Lewandowski will say.  Does the Attorney General know what he will say? 

The SPEAKER:  It is disorderly to seek an interjection from a member who is not sitting in his seat, which 
interjection would also be disorderly. 

Mr JOHNSON:  I apologise for that.  I responded to an interjection from the other side.  However, I should not 
have done so; I was remiss.  This matter is urgent.  The Opposition believes that the Minister for Health should 
take this opportunity before any comments are made on Channel Seven tonight on Lewandowski’s purported 
intention to comment on the situation concerning the Minister for Health when he was a police officer.  The 
minister should at least provide his version of the events and explain the various scenarios leading up to his 
receipt of Lewandowski’s affidavit from the Attorney General.  This issue should not be left unexplained any 
longer.  It concerns not only the Minister for Health but also the Attorney General.  When the Attorney General 
spoke for 15 minutes, according to my timing, on a substantive motion he said that he had answered all the 
Opposition’s questions.   
The Premier claims that the Labor Government’s philosophy is one of openness and accountability.  However, 
when a question was asked of the Attorney General last Thursday, he did not answer it.  When I repeatedly 
reminded him of the question he said, “Yes, I’m coming to that.”  It is an old trick for ministers to say that they 
will answer a question, but they fail to do so.  When the member for Nedlands asked the question on Thursday, 
the Attorney General provided a diatribe on other matters, but he did not answer the specific question.  We want 
to know about those matters, and we can only get to the bottom of them if we suspend standing orders and 
debate the substantive motion.  I thought the Leader of the House would agree to the suspension of standing 
orders, because, first, it is important to this Parliament and this State that the truth emerge and, secondly, the 
Opposition has rarely sought to suspend standing orders in this way.  It is probably an exaggeration to say that it 
has occurred twice in the past 18 months.  This is the third time, if that, that the Opposition has sought to 
suspend standing orders to debate an important matter.  If the Leader of the House and government members will 
not support this motion, the Opposition and the public can only conclude that they want to cover up matters 
rather than prove that the Minister for Health is being open and accountable by providing an honest account of 
events.  The Opposition wants to hear from the minister and the Attorney General on the issues raised in the 
substantive motion. 
Mr Watson interjected. 
Mr JOHNSON:  I will ignore the drivelling from the member for Albany.  In conclusion - I am sure members 
will be delighted to hear those words - I reiterate that the Leader of the House should not seek to be a party to 
what could appear to be a cover-up by preventing us from debating this issue thoroughly.  We have touched on 
only the peripheral issues of the substantive motion.  In the past two or three weeks, the Minister for Health has 
said nothing in Parliament about this issue.  We cannot ask the minister questions so we have sought to provide 
this opportunity for him to be accountable to Parliament and verify the facts.  He owes that to this Parliament and 
to the people of Western Australia. 
MS SUE WALKER (Nedlands) [4.08 pm]:  I refer to an interview of the Attorney General by John McNamara 
on 11 June.  

Points of Order 
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Mr KOBELKE:  Mr Speaker, you have been extremely lenient in the extent to which you have allowed people’s 
comments to extend outside the reasons for the motion to suspend standing orders.   
Mr Birney interjected. 
Mr McRae interjected. 
The SPEAKER:  Order, members for Kalgoorlie and Riverton. 
Mr KOBELKE:  The member for Nedlands has been on her feet for a very short time, but has immediately 
begun to address matters that do not relate to any reason that standing orders should be suspended.  This matter 
can be raised by the Opposition through many other avenues.  To vote for a motion to suspend standing orders at 
the commencement of a sitting week in which members on this side wish to deal with government business, we 
must be convinced that this matter is urgent based on the fact that it is the only mechanism by which the matter 
can be dealt with.  The substance of the member’s argument does not relate in any way to the motion to suspend 
standing orders.  
Mr BIRNEY:  The member for Nedlands had only just got going.  I do not know what the member for Nedlands 
has to say, but I suggest she will outline some of the anomalies that need to be clarified by the Attorney General.  
The member for Nedlands referred to a radio interview.  I suggest that the Attorney General made some 
comments in that interview that now might be in dispute.  Clearly, this motion refers to the Attorney General 
giving a full and detailed account of his involvement.  I submit that the member for Nedlands is entirely within 
the boundaries of standing orders.   
The SPEAKER:  The member for Kalgoorlie highlighted the problem that members are facing in this debate.  
This debate relates to the suspension of standing orders and not what the Attorney General might have said on a 
radio interview and not what people’s views are of the Mickelberg trial.  The question before the House is 
whether we should suspend standing orders and why there is an urgency for that to happen.  I note that the 
member for Nedlands has just commenced her speech and, like many of the earlier speakers, has only briefly 
touched upon reasons we should suspend standing orders.  I know that the member for Nedlands is a lawyer, so I 
am sure that she will very shortly go into the reasons for the suspension of standing orders and not the debate 
that she may wish to have if the suspension were granted.  

Debate Resumed 
Ms SUE WALKER:  I thank the member for Kalgoorlie.  I want to raise one point that goes to the urgency of 
this motion and why standing orders should be suspended so that the Attorney General and the Minister for 
Health can provide an explanation.  From the outset of this issue involving the Attorney General it was said that 
this was a matter of grave importance and one that everyone understood went to the heart of the criminal justice 
system in Western Australia.  That is why the media has been so concerned and why this is an issue of urgency.  
In fact, the Attorney General has been at pains to suggest this.   

I am giving an example of the seriousness of this issue and why the Attorney General needs to explain what he 
said in a radio interview with John McNamara.  When discussing the Mickelberg brothers, John McNamara 
asked whether the Attorney General had given any consideration to a Dietrich application, because that would 
have been the usual arrangement.  John McNamara asked - 

Are any other officers involved? 

Mr McGinty answered - 

No.  In the . . . what is involved in this particular affidavit . . . it covers the fabrication of the evidence.  
The only two that are mentioned are . . . Lewandowski . . . and also . . . Hancock.  So that, to the best of 
my knowledge and having read the affidavit very closely, is the extent of the allegations.  Now whether 
others are involved indirectly, I am not aware. 

This interview was conducted on Tuesday, 11 June and it is serious because the Attorney General told the 
Western Australian public that he was not aware of any other officers who were involved.   

We have heard during the course of the last two weeks in Parliament and through the media - which is why the 
Attorney General should give an explanation - that the Director of Public Prosecutions sent his secretary to the 
Solicitor General with the file containing, I presume, the affidavit.  However, we heard that on the Saturday 
before the Tuesday on which the Attorney General made the statement he spoke to the Minister for Health and 
gave him copies of transcripts of evidence and the affidavit.  This issue is serious and important because of what 
the Attorney General said on Tuesday, when nobody else knew except maybe Cabinet and the Minister for 
Health, who had excluded himself from the cabinet discussion.  I am not suggesting there may have been other 
people, but the Western Australian public was not aware that the Minister for Health had received that material 
on the Saturday before.  The Attorney General was asked whether any other officers were involved and he said - 
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No . . . Now whether others are involved indirectly, I am not aware.  

We heard the Attorney General say not only that he was not aware but also that he gave evidence to the Minister 
for Health.  This Parliament requires the Attorney General to explain why he told that to the Western Australian 
public.  

Dr Gallop:  What about you answering a few questions? 

Ms SUE WALKER:  I can answer questions related to me.  There are rumours put around by someone on the 
government side and it will come out eventually who that was. 

MR BIRNEY (Kalgoorlie) [4.15 pm]:  Initially, I was not going to speak to this motion; that is, not until I 
witnessed the Attorney General twisting and turning and telling all sorts of untruths about his actions in the 
Mickelberg affair.  To that end, the Attorney General asked me what discrepancies I thought he should give a 
full and detailed account of in line with the third paragraph of this motion.  The Attorney General has been less 
than forthcoming in some of his answers.   

The SPEAKER:  I know that the member for Kalgoorlie has just started, but he has referred to what he wants to 
speak about if this motion to suspend standing orders is granted.  The member should not be dealing with what 
he wants to speak about if the suspension is granted.  The member should be talking now about why there is an 
urgency to get to that point.  

Mr BIRNEY:  It is urgent that we suspend standing orders so that the Attorney General can give a full and 
detailed account of his involvement in this issue.  

Dr Gallop:  What is urgent about it?   

Mr BIRNEY:  The Parliament is about to rise for the winter recess, so it is urgent that we receive a full and 
detailed explanation from the Minister for Health and also the Attorney General.  There will be no opportunity in 
that six or seven-week break for either of those gentlemen to give a full and detailed account of their 
involvement in this affair, so there is an urgency to suspend standing orders.  There is an urgency for the 
Attorney General, after standing orders have been suspended, to tell members of this House why he consistently 
gives flowery answers to very specific questions.   

For the benefit of members, I will refer to questions that were asked by Hon Peter Foss in the other place that I 
would like the Attorney General to address if we succeed in suspending standing orders.  Hon Peter Foss asked - 

Is the Attorney General now aware that Mr Kucera was involved in the 1998 appeal and gave evidence 
in support of Detectives Hancock and Lewandowski and in opposition to the allegation by Mickelberg 
that the notes of the interview were fabricated at a later stage?   

The answer was - 

The Minister for Health was not involved or mentioned directly or indirectly in the matters contained in 
the Lewandowski affidavit. 

Nobody asked the Attorney General about the affidavit.  He was asked whether the now Minister for Health was 
involved in the 1998 appeal.  There is the first point.  The second question asked by Hon Peter Foss was - 

When and how did the Attorney General become aware of this?   

The answer was - 

The Attorney General was aware that Mr Kucera was a police officer at the Belmont station in 1982.   

Hon Peter Foss did not ask whether the Attorney General knew Mr Kucera was a police officer in Belmont in 
1982.  He asked when and how he found out.  That is clear evidence of a discrepancy that needs to be clarified 
by the Attorney General.  The only way that we can get that clarification from the Attorney General is to suspend 
standing orders and allow him to give that clarification.  Did the Attorney General deliberately mislead Hon 
Peter Foss and, in doing so, members of the other place, or was that a mistake or oversight?   

If we suspend standing orders, another question from Hon Peter Foss that requires clarification by the Attorney 
General states -  

Why did the Attorney General provide a copy of the affidavit to his colleague the Minister for Health 
before he provided it to the Mickelbergs?   

The answer was -  

It was important that all interested members of the public be made aware of the affidavit contents at the 
earliest opportunity.  
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Hon Peter Foss did not ask the Attorney General about members of the public.  He asked him why he saw the 
need to give the affidavit to his colleague, the Minister for Health.  The Attorney General comes up with some 
cock-and-bull story about all interested members of the public being briefed.  Hon Peter Foss also asked the 
Attorney General - 

Did he discuss with the Minister for Health the apparent inconsistency of the minister’s evidence in 
1998 with the evidence - 

(a) of Mickelberg in 1998; and 

The answer was yes -   

(b) in Lewandowski’s affidavit regarding whether or not notes of interview were taken?   

The answer was - 

There was no inconsistency with the Lewandowski affidavit as it does not mention, directly or 
indirectly, the Minister for Health.   

Once again, that was not the subject of the question.  That needs to be clarified by the Attorney General, and if 
we suspend standing orders in this place we will give him an opportunity to do so.  Clearly, the Attorney General 
has been less than forthcoming with members of this House and with members of the other House on this issue.  
It is interesting that he always gives what peripheral observers might consider to be very genuine, open and 
honest accounts of his involvement in the matter.  However, it is clear when one reads these rubbish answers that 
that is not true.  He has attempted to confuse members of Parliament and the press gallery and, to a certain 
extent, he has succeeded.  If the Labor Party were to support this motion to suspend standing orders, the 
Attorney General would have an opportunity to clarify these rubbish answers.  It would also provide the Minister 
for Health with an opportunity to answer the many questions that have arisen and to give a full and open account 
to the members of this House.  He would also be able to give a full and open account to the public of Western 
Australia of his involvement or otherwise in what promises to be a very serious matter.  If the minister does not 
take this opportunity - if the Labor Party protects him by using its numbers to reject this motion - the public will 
want to know why.  They will want to know whether the Labor Party is covering up something or whether the 
Minister for Health -  
Mr Johnson:  I suggest a headline: “Minister for Health refuses to talk”.   
Mr BIRNEY:  That would be a good headline.  If this lot use their numbers to vote down this motion, I will be 
very surprised if that is not the headline in tomorrow’s newspaper.  The Labor Party has a very important 
decision to make: does it allow the Minister for Health to give a full and detailed account of his involvement or 
otherwise in the Mickelberg affair?   

The Leader of the Opposition has said very clearly and concisely that, if the Minister for Health avails himself of 
this opportunity, he will be heard in silence.  I submit that there is no political motive on the part of the Liberal 
Party; members on this side simply want to hear from the Minister for Health about his involvement in the 
Mickelberg affair.  We also want to hear why the Attorney General has given less than truthful answers and why 
he purports to be honest, open and accountable when he is not.  

Question put and a division taken with the following result - 
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Ayes (23) 

Mr Ainsworth Mr Edwards Mr Marshall Mr Trenorden 
Mr Barnett Mr Grylls Mr Masters Mr Waldron 
Mr Birney Ms Hodson-Thomas Mr Omodei Ms Sue Walker 
Mr Board Mr House Mr Pendal Dr Woollard 
Dr Constable Mr Johnson Mr Barron-Sullivan Mr Bradshaw (Teller) 
Mr Day Mr McNee Mr Sweetman  

Noes (30) 

Mr Andrews Ms Guise Mr McGowan Mr Ripper 
Mr Bowler Mr Hill Ms McHale Mrs Roberts 
Mr Brown Mr Hyde Mr McRae Mr Templeman 
Mr Carpenter Mr Kobelke Mr Marlborough Mr Watson 
Mr Dean Mr Kucera Mr Murray Mr Whitely 
Mr D’Orazio Mr Logan Mr O’Gorman Ms Quirk (Teller) 
Dr Edwards Ms MacTiernan Mr Quigley  
Dr Gallop Mr McGinty Ms Radisich  

Question thus negatived.  
 


